City of Mount Airy
Regular Board Meeting
November 7, 2019
2:00 pm

Council Chamber
Municipal Building
300 South Main Street
Mount Airy, N.C.

AGENDA
Welcome and Call to Order

................................................................................. Mayor David L. Rowe

Invocation

..................................................................................... Commissioner Brown

Pledge of Allegiance

.................................................................................................. Everyone

Items for Discussion and Possible Action

1.)

APPROVAL OF AGENDA:

2.)

CONSENT AGENDA: The consent agenda is comprised of matters of routine business that do not require
discussion by the Board. Items included on this agenda are indicated with an asterisk (*) and will all be
considered with one motion by the Board. Should a Board member wish to remove an item from the consent
agenda, that item will be considered in its listed place on the agenda.
a)

b)
c)
d)
e)
t)

g)
h)

** Approval of Minutes:

~August 28, 2019 Recessed Meeting
~October 17, 2019 Regular Meeting
**Board to Confirm Submission of Resolution Changing Mount Airy Regular Municipal Elections to
Even-Numbered Years: Resolution No. 2020-033
**Board to Consider Resolution Approving Tax Releases: Resolution No. 2020-034
**Board to Consider Resolution Making Planning Board Appointments: Resolution No. 2020-035
**Board to Consider Resolution Making Board of Adjustment Appointments: Resolution No. 2020-036
**Board to Consider Resolution Authorizing Ratification of Addendum to EME Industrial Services, LLC
Contract: Resolution No. 2020-037
**Board to Consider Resolution Setting Public Hearing for Rezoning Request of Multiple Properties
Located on Depot Street, Factory Street, and Houston Street: Resolution No. 2020-038
**Board to Consider Resolution Setting Public Hearing for City of Mount Airy Zoning Ordinance
Amendments: Resolution No. 2020-039

3.)

CERTIFICATES AND AWARDS:

4.)

SPECIAL PRESENTATION:

5.)

PUBLIC HEARINGS:

6.)

PUBLIC FORUM:

7.)

OLD BUSINESS:

8.)

ITEMS REMOVED FROM CONSENT AGENDA:

9.)

NEW BUSINESS:
a)

Board to Consider Budget Ordinance Amendment for Andy Griffith Playhouse HVAC Replacement:
Ordinance No. 2020-011

b)

Board to Consider:
i. Resolution Authorizing Purchase of a 4.785 Acre Property Located on Carter Street (ID 5929-12-756513): Resolution No. 2020-040
ii. Budget Ordinance Amendment for Purchase of Carter Street Property: Ordinance No. 2020-012

c)

Board to Consider Ordinance Authorizing City of Mount Airy Code of Ordinance Text Amendments:
Ordinance No. 2020-013

10.)

OTHER BUSINESS:

11.)

REMARKS BY OFFICIALS:
a. Mayor
b. City Council

12.)

ADJOURNMENT

MOUNT AIRY, NORTH CAROLINA
RECESSED MEETING
August 28, 2019

MEMBERS PRESENT: May01· David L. Rowe, Commissione1·s Shirley Brinkley, Dean Brown,
Jon Cawley, and Steve Yokeley
MEMBER ABSENT: Commissioner Jim Armh1·ister
Mayor Rowe welcomed everyone and called the meeting to order.

BOARD DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION OF SPENCER'S MILL ASBESTOS
ABATEMENT QUOTES:
Charlie Vaughn: I have been working on the abatement quotations. I received a total of six
quotes as follows:
ContractOl'
City
Quote
EME
Greensboro
$ 38,399.00
T&T Abatement
Toast, NC
$ 41,277.00
AbateMasters
Lexington
$ 44,762.00
WDC
Conover
$ 65,783.00
Hepaco
Charlotte
$ 83,950.00
DH Griffin
Greensboro
$ 87,362.00
Foss Demolition
Charlotte
$1,163,600.00
(Foss Demolition price includes demo of three buildings)

P&P Bond Add
3.50%

1.50%
2.50%

Mayor Rowe: When EME looked at this, did they take the abatement repOTt and reference it
to the report?
Charlie Vaughn: Yes, they took the report and referenced it. As I mentioned to you last
meeting, they did have an exclusion in their proposal and from that exclusion, I went inside
the boiler and took another sample and there is no asbestos inside the boiler; therefore, their
exclusion doesn't apply.
Commissioner Yokeley: Do you have to add the bonds to the others?
Charlie Vaughn: The bonds aren't included in any of these. It is a service contract and in the
case of EME, they said it would take 18 days. In their contract, they provide a third party
certification and submit a bill to us and we pay them. I don't see a need for a performance
and payment bond because they are going to do the work before we pay them.
Commissioner Brinkley: When will they get started?
Charlie Vaughn: They said they would start within 30 days. It takes ten days to get the
permit so they would start within 30 days of the award.
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Commissioner Cawley: With DH Griffin being the second highest on this bid, 1s there a
correlation between that and the other bid?
Charlie Vaughn: I don't think so because EME was second the last time. EME is working
next dom. Only thing I can say is contractor schedules change, their workloads change, and
it is generally reflected in the bidding. I did talk to David with DH Griffin and he said even
though they were past the period in their proposal, they would still honor their proposal.
Commissioner Cawley: Obviously, the way the board has decided to go, we are going to end
up spending $300,000+ on the next phase of all of this work to get it done in hopes of selling
the buildings that remain. In order to garner my support, I would like for us to discuss a
price on the hotel building because we are doing all of this work so we can market a building
or buildings and the last time we tried to sell this building, we tried to sell it for $35,000 and
if we think we are going to do that again at the same price, I would like to know about it
before.
Commissioner Brown: I think the cost of this should be added to the cost of the hotel
building when we sell it ... as much of it as possible anyway.
Commissioner Brinkley: With this section with the hotel building that is left, will that still be
tax credit eligible since nothing is attached to it at that point?
Mayor Rowe: As far as I know. This is new territory for me.
Commissioner Brinkley: Does anyone have an idea of what the value of the building will be
once all of these other buildings are gone?
Mayor Rowe: I don't know.
Commissioner Cawley: We have a vacant lot across the street on the tax books at $400,000,
The vacant lot behind it that we recently sold was at $207,000 and this is going to be a lot
with a building on it. My understanding is the reason the city is taking the responsibility to
do this kind of work is because it is important the city maintain the leade1·ship in it in order
for the tax credits to be transferrable. We haven't talked about what price we might ask for
it and I can hear it right now, someone is going to walk in here and say we know you did all
this work in this but we have a builder who is offering $50,000 for it. Are you going to take it
or are you going to be against progress?
Commissioner Brinkley: Will something like that go out for bids at that point when we try to
sell it? How would something like that work?
Mayor Rowe: In this particular case, it is worth whatever someone will pay for it unless there
is some firm that could come tell us exactly what it could be sold for.
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Commissioner Cawley: That reiterates my view of why in the world are we spending more
money for it if we are going to just take whatever someone might give us.
Mayor Rowe: We are looking at they will give you "x" for it and I have no idea what that
might be but then if it is to become a hotel or whatever, it would be a taxable entity that
would eventually help the city with the property tax. I don't know how you would value a
property in order to make a price for it.
Commissione1· Cawley: The last thing I would do is stick on 20 years of property taxes and
tear down something beside it in order to be able to sell it for a very small amount so that
someone could come in and start paying property taxes on it. It is going to take us decades to
be paid back. To me, that is beyond ridiculous. I recognize that sometimes I am the last one
to know something and I just want to know if we have any idea what this property is going
to be worth or what we are going to ask for it when this work is completed and it is ready to
market. I am used to people pricing their own stuff they are going to sell. It may or may not
sell at that price but to me, it seems like it is the city's responsibility to determine a price
that we are going to ask for the property. Spending $350,000 to separate it out should be
$350,000 added to the price.
Mayor Rowe: It would be nice to recover that but I don't know what it would be worth once
these buildings are demolished.
Commissioner Brinkley: I think you would like to think that could happen. I think that we
are trying to speculate something that we don't know how much it would sell for. I think this
is something that you have to get to that point before you can decide how much you will sell
it for. I see your point but I think it is difficult to speculate that before the work is done. I
think it would have to be appraised. I would like to get the demolition cost back.
Commissioner Cawley: For me, to find a reason to fall in line with this is what I just said-the
board has decided we will get our money back when we sell it.
Commissioner Brinkley: Can we add that to this motion that the demolition cost be added to
the sale price for the hotel building?
Commissioner Cawley: Whether we do it through a motion or anything, this board ultimately
has the decision of the selling price. What we will hear is you are never going to sell it for that
price.
Commissioner Yokeley: We have already approved the demolition. We are voting on the
asbestos abatement ... that is it. This is very important discussion, but it needs to be held in
the future.
Commissioner Cawley: I would like to be able to say ok, this is not what I wanted to do but I
am going to fall in line and support it and I would do that if we would talk about adding the
value of what we are creating to our sales price.
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Commissioner Brinkley: Could we finish this vote and then make a motion to when we sell
the property, we have that included?
Commissioner Y okeley: We can have discussions about what we will sell it for.
Commissioner Brinkley: It is going to have to be mme than what the demolition and asbestos
removal is costing.
Mayor Rowe: Suppose we get to that point and we agree on a price of minimum of $330,000
and no one will give you that for it?
Commissioner Cawley: That is a question I was trying to get answered before we ever voted
on the demolition. I said show me a contract. I am just saying we need to be able to sell this
without giving the bank away again. I never thought we should have sold the ffrst pieces of
property for $35,000/each but I voted for it because it got our money back and as a city, I
wasn't trying to make money on the deal. I was trying to create what we are trying to create
down there. If you thought about it objectively, we have a hotel that could have 90 rooms in
it in the middle of downtown, you would never be absurd to ask half a million dolla1·s for
that. The lot across the street is on the tax books at $395,000 and it is like this but covered in
grass. I am sitting here thinking in two months someone is going to come up and offer us
$100,000 and everyone's arms are going to be twisted behind their backs to accept it in the
name of progress. I want to try to head that off before it becomes reality.
Commissione1· Brinkley: We keep saying hotel. .. we don't know what someone will do with
that property. That is also going to have a determination on the value of the property.
Commissioner Cawley: If you remember, the discussion in here was when we voted to do the
demolition, was that there is an interested party in buying the hotel to create a hotel.
Commissioner Brinkley: I said that because that was what I was told. I don't know who it is
or if they are still interested.
Commissioner Cawley: We have made our decisions in the past with that information and
maybe it won't be a hotel, but that is what the common understanding seems to have been.
Commissioner Brinkley: We don't know what it is going to be until it is appraised after
demolition. Once the demolition is done, the appraisal of that property is going to be
different than what it is now.
Commissione1· B1·own: It is going to be a long time before anyone makes an offer on that
property. We don't know what is going to happen six months from now or a year from now. I
think it is the perfect location for a hotel and I think we will have to set the price at that
time when we are ready to sell it.
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Commissionei· Brinkley made a motion to accept the asbestos abatement hid from EME in the
amount of $38,399. Commissioner Yokeley seconded it and it was app1·oved unanimously.

ADJOURNMENT:
On motion by Commissioner Brinkley, seconded by Commissioner Yokeley and passed
unanimously, the meeting was adjom·ned.

Approved and adopted this the 7th day of November, 2019.

David L. Rowe, Mayor

ATTEST:

Melissa N. Brame, City Clerk
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MOUNT AIRY, NORTH CAROLINA
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES
October 17, 2019
MEMBERS PRESENT: Mayor David L. Rowe, Commissionei·s Shirley Brinkley, Dean Brown,
Jon Cawley, and Steve Yokeley
Commissione1· Jim Armb1·ister passed away October 7, 2019.

Mayor Rowe welcomed everyone and opened the meeting.
Tie Vote Possibility: Mayor Rowe made the following announcement: Due to the passing of
Commissioner Armbrister, we have a quorum of four board members at this meeting, so there
is the possibility of a tie vote. In this case, the Mayor will vote to be the tie breaker.
APPROVAL OF AGENDA:
On motion by Commissioner Brinkley, seconded by Commissione1· Brown and passed
unanimously, the agenda was app1·oved.
CONSENT AGENDA:
On motion by Commissionei· Brinkley, seconded by Commissione1· Yokeley and passed
unanimously, the following items were approved by way of consent agenda.
•

APPROVAL OF OCTOBER 3, 2019 REGULAR MEETING MINUTES:

•

RESOLUTION 2020-029-MAICTNG APPEARANCE COMMISSION APPOINTMENTS:
RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020-029

RESOLUTION MAICTNG APPEARANCE COMMISSION APPOINTMENTS

WHEREAS, there are two vacant positions on the Appearance Commission; and
WHEREAS, Jenny Smith and Darryl Wilson have expressed interest in serving on
the Appearance Commission; and
WHEREAS, it is recommended that Jenny Smith and Darryl Wilson be appointed to
the Appearance Commission for a three-year term:
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF MOUNT AIRY
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING IN OPEN SESSION THAT:
Section 1.

Jenny Smith is hereby appointed to the Appearance Commission for a threeyear term expiring June 30, 2022.

Section 2.

Darryl Wilson is hereby appointed to the Appearance Commission for a threeyea1· term expiring June 30, 2022.
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Section 3.

This resolution shall become effective upon approval.

Approved and adopted this the 17 th day of October, 2019.

•

RESOLUTION 2020-030-DONATION OF FIREFIGHTER TURN OUT GEAR:
RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020-030

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING DONATION OF TURN OUT GEAR
WHEREAS, personal protective equipment has a shelf life of ten (10) years when
issued; and
WHEREAS, said equipment includes pants, coats, gloves, hoods, helmets, and boots;
and
WHEREAS, the City of Mount Airy Fire Department has seven sets of pants and
coats that have passed the ten-year threshold; and
WHEREAS, staff has declared these seven sets of turn out gear as surplus and
recommends donating them to the Global Gear Initiative:
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF MOUNT AIRY
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING IN OPEN SESSION THAT:
Section 1.

The Board of Commissioners does hereby authorize the donation of the seven
sets of turn out gear to the Global Gear Initiative.

Section 2.

This resolution shall become effective upon approval.

Approved and adopted this the 17 th day of October, 2019.
(end of consent agenda)

CERTIFICATES AND AWARDS:
Recognition of Zack Wardle-Eagle Scout Project:
Mayor Rowe recognized Zack Wardle for his Eagle Scout project. Zack organized and
repositioned nine, 600-pound granite mile markers along the Granite City Greenway.
Michella Huff praised Zack for his efforts and Mayor Rowe commended Zack for his positive
efforts for the community.
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS:
a) Dog Park Pl'Oject-Sue Brownfield:
Sue Brownfield reviewed a presentation regarding the proposed dog park project. The closest
park to Mount Airy is in Rural Hall, NC. The proposed location is a site behind Lowes Foods
by the greenway. The lot is owned by the City of Mount Airy. This lot is the best location
because it is close to downtown, it is a one-acre site, it is along the walking trail, and the1·e
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will be adequate parking (parking will be to the left as you enter the cinema). There will be
two areas in the dog park-one for large dogs and one for small dogs. Both areas will have a
double-gated entrance. There are also plans for a memorial garden area to be included.
Fundraising efforts by the Rotary Clubs include:
Fence:
$21,500
Tree removal:
$6,200
Water lines, FEMA, & grading
Apply for grants
Fundraisers
Seek sponsors and donations
This park project was approved by the City's Parks & Recreation Committee on April 24,
2019. The request to the Board of Commissioners is to approve the project, waive the tap
fees and permits, place the park on the city's insurance policy ($300/year), and city will take
over ownership once the park is completed and maintain the park as well as open and close
the park.
Ms. Brownfield thanked the Mayor and Board for allowing her to speak on behalf of the
proposed project.
Commissione1· Yokeley made a motion to approve the dog pai·k project. Commissioner Brown
seconded it and it was approved unanimously.
b) Mount Airy Museum of Regional History Funding Request-Hank Spfres:
Hank Spires reviewed a presentation regarding the Mount Airy Museum's funding request
from the City of Mount Airy.

The Mount Airy Museum of Regional History's ("Museum") capital campaign goal is $3.5
million:
$1.3 million
Exhibits and programs
Building infrastructure
$1 million
Operating support
$200,000
$100,000
Campaign
Contingency
$300,000
Endowment
$600,000
The campaign has raised $500,000 so far.
The Museum's request to the City is for the following:
~City to match the $500,000 that has already been raised
~City appropriate $100,000/year for five years beginning m the current fiscal year
(2019/2020)
~ Additional $500,000 dollar for dollar match to be paid in years 6-10 (based on Museum
raising additional $500,000)
~These funding requests to be in addition to the Annual Special Agency Appropriation
Funding requests
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Mr. Spfres thanked the Mayor and Board for their consideration.

PUBLIC FORUM:
Mayor Rowe: The next item is the Public Forum. This is an opportunity for anyone in the
audience to address the board. Please come up to the podium, state your name, address, and
whether or not you reside in the city limits. You will be given three minutes to make your
comments and the City Clerk will ring the bell to signal when your three minutes are up. I
ask that you state yom· thoughts, facts, and opinions in a respectful manner. This shall not
include name calling or defamation of anyone's character. After the public forum is closed, all
items on the agenda will be for board discussion only-the audience will not be recognized for
comments. I now declare the public forum open.

Mayor Rowe declared the public fOl'um open.
JC Short, 207 River Walk Road (city resident): My name is JC Short and I live on River
Walk Road in Mount Airy. I love cats and I love dogs but you just went ahead and approved
something with no discussion. You just went ahead and approved it. You need to look out for
the average citizens and quit wasting money one meeting after another. You have got to
control your budget-you have a budget ... go by it. I like the Museum, Arts Council, and the
dog park but you have to control spending. Thank you.
Carol Burke, 131 West Lebanon Street (office) (city resident): Good afternoon Mayor and
Board of Commissioners. My name is Carol Burke and I have an office at 131 West Lebanon
Street. I want to thank Michella Huff for making this the most beautiful little town in the
world with the beautiful fall decorations. I want to thank the Rotary Club fOT all the work
done with the dog park. I also thank the Museum for what you have done. The main thing I
want to see about tonight is two weeks ago, Dan Pezonni gave a presentation on historic
districts and we have already had several developers within the last two weeks already
talking to us about projects in the districts, particularly the Lebanon Hill District. I want to
thank Tom Joyce for his article about that appeared on the front page on the Mount Airy
News about this. I want to thank Commissioner Brown for pushing this through. I think the
funding we got from the Federal Government has been money well spent for our beautiful
historic town. Thank you all.
Cory Stewart, Rural Hall (non-city resident): Good evening, my name is Dr. Cory Stewart
and I teach History at the Community College and I live in Rural Hall. I also serve on the
Board of Directors for the Museum of Regional History. I think Mr. Spires has already laid
out what a great job the Museum is already doing so I won't repeat any of that. What I want
to talk about is why we should care so much about the Museum. I have been a historian all of
my life even before I was trained to be one and I have been to many museums and have seen
many amazing things. One time, when I was really just stopped in my tracks and before I
was on the board, I was visiting the Museum for a New Year's Eve celebration and I brought
some friends with me who are not from this area, and we turned a corner in an exhibit and I
saw an object. Before I read the label, I knew what that object was. It was the desk of Mr.
Dawson's watch repair shop just across the street from the Museum. When I was a young
man, I spent many hours in that workshop watching him work with the most intricate
details of those watches and the fine tools and machines he had to use. He would tell me
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stories about growing up and serving in the Pacific in WWII. What I didn't know that I read
was that he learned how to do that through a VA program that helped disabled veterans
coming home from WWII. At the Museum, I learned something about an individual that I
had known for years. That is when it struck me-that is the reason for Museums-it preserves
the stories of this community and the people of this community. I guarantee if you go to the
Museum, you will see a personal connection in there somewhere because it is our
community ... it is our story. The tobacco farms, the textile workers, the quarry workers,
police officers, firefighters .... everybody's story is being preserved and housed and displayed
at that museum. What we are asking for tonight isn't a handout, we are asking for an
investment and for you to join us in this process to preserve this region's cultural and artistic
district. Thank you for your time.
Bobbie Collins, 101 Hunting Hill Drive (city resident): Good evening Commissioners and
everyone here. I appreciate the opportunity to speak on behalf of the Mount Airy Museum,
which I am a charter member. When we first started back in the 90's, I was approached to
help get it initiated and started. I contributed and have been a charter member since. For the
past six years including this year, I have been on the board. I love the Museum and it is a
wonderful place. When my grandchildren come, that is the first place they want to go. I grew
up in Surry County down in the Westfield/Pilot Mountain area so I enjoy seeing all of the
information in the Museum. I do hope you will consider helping to support us on this
fundraiser. We do need your support and have been fortunate in the years to have a lot of
community support and people making donations. It is time we need a little help he1·e to get
some things updated. Thank you for the opportunity to speak.
Randy Collins, Mount Airy Chamber of Commerce President (city resident): Mr. Mayor and
Commissioners, I am here to talk to you about something different. I am Randy Collins and I
am the President and CEO of the Mount Airy Chamber of Commerce. We just completed the
53 rd Autumn Leaves Festival and I really just wanted to take a moment to thank a few
people that helped us make that happen. I am going to leave some people off and if I do leave
you off, I apologize. There are a lot of people that make this even happen. I want to thank
the Mount Airy Police Department, Mount Airy Fire Department, Rescue Squad, Mount
Airy Public Works Department and many, many others. We simply couldn't do this event
without them. To all of the merchants and businesses downtown, we do interrupt their
business for four days and I thank you for that. To all of our banks in town, my apologies for
closing some of you off from doing business on Friday. We appreciate all of the banks
working with us, especially between Rawley Avenue and Independence. To all the citizens,
residents, businesses, several have called me throughout the year and expressed thoughts
about the festival, we know who you are and we love you. I know it interrupts people's
traffic through our great city and I hope you understand. To all of our sponsors who make it
happen, the two main ones are Carolina Carports and Cardinal CT and there are many, many
others that support this festival. This is a historic year for the festival-192 vendors, 24 food
vendors-the majority of the food vendors are non-profits who give hack to our community.
There were 37 bands that performed for three days-great music and many, many people
come to the festival for the music. We think that is great-the old time and bluegrass music.
There a1·e some issues with the festival we are working on and it is an inexact science. We
would certainly welcome input of the citizens, elected officials, staff, anyone who has a
thought on the festival even if it isn't necessarily positive. One issue in particular was
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parking this year. We want to reiterate that most of the parking downtown goes to nonprofits and our plans are already underway for the festival next year. Thank you.
Ladonna McCarther, Mount Airy Museum of Regional History Board Member: Good evening
Mr. Mayor and Commissioners. Thank you for allowing us this time to speak to you. My
name is Ladonna McCarther and I am a board member of the Mount Airy Museum. The
Museum is supported by volunteers and I wore my pen that I received for volunteering for 15
years. In volunteering, we man the desk, we do tours, we teach school children, we have
special programs that go on. Our exhibits are important. There are four floors and if you do a
self-guided tour, it would take you up to an hour and 4.S minutes to go through the Museum.
It is indeed a wonderful place. I would like to encourage you to continue to support the
Museum and to fund it in your budget to increase our asking, maybe a little more than what
we are asking for if you can dig deep and find it. It is a wonderful place and is manned by
volunteers. It is the type of thing where not only do our local citizens come to see it but
people from out of town as well as from out of state. Most of the time, we have someone from
all 50 states that visit our Museum so that is a lot for us. I thank you for giving us this
opportunity to speak to you on behalf of the Museum. I ask you continue to support a great
institution for our area. Thank you.
Jana?, (non-city resident): My name is Jana and I am 21 years old. I am part of the ETJ. I
know that it was very recently to do away with the ET J and details are being figured out but
my family recently realized there has been a bit of a lapse with the fencing law. Per Surry
County ordinances, we are allowed to have livestock. Per Surry County rules, the fencing has
to be a minimum five-foot tall and since we are in the ET J, we have to get a permit. A permit
isn't that expensive and not that big of a deal, but we realize that if the littlest thing goes
wrong with the fence, we must get a permit, at least that was what was conveyed to us from
the Planning Department or something. Say my goat charged the fence, we have to get a
permit to fix the fence or to add on to the fence, we have to get another permit. Since we are
dealing with livestock, I don't feel that is fair and was hoping you can investigate to rectify
that for those living in the ET J. Thank you.
Mayor Rowe: Anyone else? All right, seeing no one else wishing to speak, I declare the public
forum closed.

Mayor Rowe declared the public fOl'um closed.

RESOLUTION 2020-031-APPROVING PROPOSED POLICE DEPARTMENT TRAINING
AGREEMENT:
On motion by Commissione1· Binkley, seconded by Commissione1· Yokeley and passed
unanimously, the following 1·esolution was apprnved:

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020-031
RESOLUION APPROVING PROPOSED CITY OF MOUNT AIRY POLICE DEPARTMENT
TRAINING AGREEMENT
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WHEREAS, the City of Mount Airy Police Department offers a Training Agreement
Program, which has been beneficial in recruiting new police officers; and
WHEREAS, the Training Agreement specifies the new officer agrees to reimburse the
City a portion of costs incurred for training if the officer's employment as a police officer is
terminated or the officer resigns from employment as a police officer within two years of
being employed by the City; and
WHEREAS, currently, the reimbursement amount to the City is $1,500.00 and upon
reviewing the agreement, the Chief of Police recommends the reimbursement amount be
increased to $5,000.00, which more accurately reflects the costs associated with the training
of a new officer:
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF MOUNT AIRY
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING IN OPEN SESSION THAT:
Section 1.

The Board of Commissioners does hereby approve the proposed City of Mount
Airy Police Department Training Agreement increasing the reimbursement
amount to $5,000.00 (paid to the City if: 1-the officer's employment as a police
officer is terminated within two years of employment or 2-the officer resigns
from employment as a police officer within two years of employment).

Section 2.

This resolution shall become effective upon approval.

Approved and adopted this the 17 th day of October, 2019.

RESOLUTION 2020-032-AUTHORIZING REPORTING OF ORDINANCES WITH CRIMINAL
PENALTIES:
On motion by Commissioner Brinkley, seconded by Commissioner Yokeley and passed
unanimously, the following resolution was approved:
RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020-032
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING
ORDINANCES LIST

SUBMISSION

OF

CRIMINALLY

ENFORCEABLE

WHEREAS, the NC General Assembly enacted Session Law 2018-69 (An Act to
Assist the Criminal Law Recodification Working Group), which directs the State's counties,
municipalities, and metropolitan sewerage districts to submit lists of their criminally
enforceable OTdinances; and
WHEREAS, this act is an initial step in a process that could ultimately lead to an
overhaul of North Carolina's criminal laws; and
WHEREAS, Section 3 of the act covers every municipality, county, and metropolitan
sewerage district that has ordinances creating offenses punishable as misdemeanors under GS
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14-4 and directs each unit to prepare a list of applicable ordinances with the description of
the conduct subject to criminal punishment in each ordinance and submit said list to two
legislative committees; and
WHEREAS, to compile said lists, units must be able to identify which of their
ordinances create criminal offenses pursuant to GS 14-4 with the basic rule that said statute
makes every ordinance violation a Class 3 misdemeanor and subjects the offender to a fine of
not mOTe than $500 unless one of two exceptions applies:
1) A municipal or county governing board may expressly provide that the violation of an
ordinance will not result in a misdemeanor, often referred to as decriminalizing an
ordinance
2) Under GS 14-4(b ), the violation of an ordinance regulating the operation or parking of
vehicles is an infraction, not a misdemeanor; and
WHEREAS, when read together with GS 14-4 and other pertinent statutes, Section 3
of the Act requires units to list all of their ordinances in their reports to the joint committees
except for those OTdinances that have been decriminalized or that regulate the operation or
parking of vehicles; and
WHEREAS, it is staff recommendation to submit the attached list to the joint
legislative committees, which must be submitted prior to Novembe1· 1, 2019:
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF MOUNT AIRY
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING IN OPEN SESSION THAT:
Section 1.

The Board of Commissioners does hereby authorize the City Clerk to submit
the above-mentioned listing of OTdinances to the two joint legislative
committees prior to November 1, 2019.

Section 2.

This resolution shall become effective upon approval.

Approved and adopted this the 3rd day of October, 2019.

BOARD TO DISCUSS WILLOW STREET UNDERGROUND UTILITIES FUNDING-LIZZIE
MORRISON, MAIN STREET COORDINATOR:
Lizzie Morrison reviewed a presentation regarding the revitalization of the downtown area.
Lizzie Morrison: During the last meeting, the board heard a presentation from Mitch
Williams about there only being $116,000 left in contingency funds to deal with the overhead
lines on the west side of Willow Street. The cost of that project was going to be $114,400 and
there isn't a lot of wiggle room in there. After the MAD, Inc. Board met and discussed this
project at length, we are requesting an MSD budget amendment to pay for overages on the
Willow Street infrastructure project only in the event that the contingency money already
allocated to this project doesn't cover the expenses of the project. The amount we feel is
appropriate is $28,000 in MSD funds to cover the cost of decorative lighting on Willow
Street, which will include three lights that are 25-feet high. You already have the money
allocated for the project and we wanted to give you some comfort in moving forward with
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that project. Mount Airy Downtown does tend to participate in public projects like this.
With the chronic shortage of parking downtown, we do anticipate participating in new
parking lot projects, which is something we have done in the past. We have also paid for
decorative lighting in the past. We are asking that you set the standard for what is
happening on Willow Street because the private investment does follow and the developers
that would be inte1·ested in the rest of Spencer's, no doubt, are going to be watching what it
is the city does in this decision.
Mayor Rowe: So we would have to spend the contingency money before you're willing to
contribute the $28,000?
Lizzie Morrison: That is what we are asking-that you use the money you have aheady
allocated for this project to pay fm the project and if there are overages, MAD, Inc. will pay
for the decorative lighting.
Commissione1· Cawley: If we choose to do this, we are going to spend $114,400 of contingency
money that I was under the impression was in case there were unforeseen problems. For me,
someone decided to bury lines that we had conside1·ed and decided that wasn't economically
feasible at that time. It isn't all the lines, it is the cable and phone lines and so there are still
going to be overhead lines and I don't think I missed any meetings so I want us to talk about
where the permission to spend that money to pay for that purpose came from.
Lizzie Morrison: This didn't originate from us. I found out about this the day befme your last
meeting and we just requested time to take it back to the MAD, Inc. board. I don't know the
answer to that but I do think that while the street is torn up, if it is ever going to be done,
now is the time to do it.
Mitch Williams: The estimate to do all of this was about $104,000 and with contingency,
$114,400. Of the $104,,000, $28,000 was for Duke Energy decorative lighting. That was
included, not in the construction contract going on now, but in that estimate we did back in
2016. We included decorative lighting and these other elements and that $28,000 was
included in that and not what is going on out there now. The reason it wasn't included in
what is going on out there now is we gave that contract to a private contractor. There is
$48,000 to pay CenturyLink to put the lines underground once we get the conduit. We have
sort of known at Public Works and we have been out there over the past three or so years,
and every time we have been out there over the years and shown the property to different
developers, they would see those lines and they would say those lines need to be handled in
some way. I am not sure if they thought the city was going to do it or the city thought the
developers were going to do it, but in the meantime, no one is getting those lines
underground. Over the summer, we looked at those lines and thought we need to show this to
the board and see what they think about it. They are unsightly and still connected to that
catwalk. They would have to be dealt with on that catwalk eventually. If a future developer
wants it off that catwalk and they call and CenturyLink will tell them to get it off that
catwalk, you are going to have to dig your street up and the street will be freshly new and
paved at that point. It isn't something we have really overlooked, it is something that would
need to be brought up at some time and now, before we get that street fixed back, we
thought we would bring it to your attention to get your thoughts.
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Commissioner Brinkley: It seems like there is always one more thing that comes to the
board ... one more thing that wasn't added or considered. I feel like we should have known
about this a long time ago and I think that is one of the reasons there are so many
complaints now, there is always one more thing. What else might come?
Mitch Williams: That is one of the reasons we wanted to save that contingency and be very
cautious about spending it.
Commissioner Brinkley: Century Link isn't willing to pay for any of this?
Mitch Williams: That is the estimate that was emailed to me. I have spoken with them trying
to get that price reduced.
Commissioner Brinkley: They are going to earn money from everyone that has CenturyLink
and the cable company is going to earn money from everyone that has cable and you would
think we could get some kind of good pricing.
Lizzie Morrison: I want to point out that the city does directly benefit and you can see the
return on your investment for projects like this when you see the increased tax revenue. That
$37,000 in tax revenue that you are getting annually from the Spencer's Lofts, three years of
that covers this $114,400 expense. That isn't counting any of the development that is
happening or going to happen on the west side of the Spencer's property. This isn't asking for
a good will contribution, this is asking for an investment in to infrastructure and in to the
heart of the community that you can see and we can prove that you do get a return on.
Mitch Williams: We were hoping to take care of this through the contingency money. You
can argue whether or not we should be doing some of that underground for CenturyLink
paying their fees through the contingency of the project. We were hoping that at the end, we
would have enough money to come to you and ask do you want to do this but at the encl of
the project, the street is paved so at that point we can't. We are just trying to get a little
ahead before we fixed the street back.
CommissioneT Brinkley: How would the decorative lighting be? Is that going to be on the
side with the ugly power lines or on the other side?
Mitch Williams: It will be on the west side-the side wheTe the lines can come down. The lines
need to come down before we get the lights up.
Commissione1· Brinkley: So those would be underground?
Mitch Williams: Yes. The power lines on the east side of Willow Street stays. Duke Energy
tells me we can't do anything with those lines. They will stay-they are a little thinner and
higher so you don't notice them that much.
Commissioner Brinkley: If it starts being developed down there, are you going to come back
to us and ask fol' decorative lighting going down into the Spencer's area?
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Mitch Williams: The decorative lighting proposed with that $28,000 is three lights down
Willow Street from Oak to Virginia Street. When Phase II happens, we will have to budget
probably three more from Oak to Franklin headed south, so this is just half of the decorative
lighting. There won't be any of that $48,000 for CenturyLink and $28,000 fm conduit but
there will be decorative lighting to install on Willow Street to come back in a few years.
Commissioner Brinkley: I was talking about going down into the developed area.
Mitch Williams: It depends on how it develops. If we put a city street down that alley and it
is public right-of-way ... it isn't long enough to add much ... maybe one or two.
Commissioner Cawley: When I was first considering decorative lighting four or five years
ago, I thought $10,000/light was expensive but for what you get out of it and the lifetime of
it, it was doable. At that time, the power company didn't charge the same rate. We are
talking like for $28,000 that MAD, Inc. will pay, we will get three new lights ... any idea as to
the city's electric bill goes up because of those new lights.
Mitch Williams: I don't have that in front of me but there is an extra charge-it is a surcharge
anytime you have underground versus overhead. It is a little more expensive. I don't have
that number but I think it may be around $30/light per month. I think the normal st1·eet
light is around $12/light per month. I can get that number for you once I get back to the
office. I don't know the theory behind why they are more expensive.
Commissioner Cawley: Isn't the $11,000 to put the light there supposed to cover that pole?
Mitch Williams: I am not sure.
Commissioner Cawley: I know you don't work for the power company. These are expenses
that, to me, are hidden and yet, someone has to pay for them.
Mitch Williams: They will be LED lights and are 25 feet tall. They are similar to the ones on
Market Street but twice as high.
Commissioner Y okeley: How are you feeling now about these costs being absorbed in the
contingency?
Mitch Williams: We still have a lot to do on the site. We need to get the street back together
and do the parking lot and any other things that pop up towards the end. We were nervous
about it ... that is why we are here. Every day, we are out there on site trying to save every
dime we can where we can ... cutting out what we don't need if we see something, we will pull
back some of the specs of it. As staff, we will do our best to save as much contingency as
possible.
Barbara Jones: When Mitch and I were talking about this process ( and we have talked about
it a number of times), overall costs to do everything downtown was expensive. As we talked
about it, while the street was torn up, I suggested to him that now is the time to start the
process, we need to bring it to the Boai·d to hear their thoughts and make that call whether
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or not you want to put the lines underground while the street is torn up or not. This is
something we wanted the Board to make a decision on while the project is going on. Do you
want to start with the lines underground or do you want to wait and consider that at another
time. If this is something on your list of goals, it makes sense to start the process now, if it is
not on your list of goals, that is your decision. That is really the purpose of this coming to
the table ... to make a determination from the Boa1·d what the goals and priorities are. So if
you are thinking about doing any of the lines underground and doing them in phases, this
would be the place to begin.
Commissioner Brinkley: Right now, we are shorthanded a number of police officers ... there
are funds there not being used until we hire people. How does that money get used? Does it
get put back in, is this something that money would be there for this? I don't know how you
do your budget on that.
Barbara Jones: In orde1· to do something additional like this, you would need to do a budget
amendment. As always, any monies that aren't spent remain in the budget and it goes into
your overall end of the year accounting. We never know how that will turn out but yes, we
are down some personnel and as you have seen in past budgets, any monies that are left are
propedy accounted for and left there but it all churns out together.
Commissioner Brown: I think that while the street is torn up, that is the time to fix the lines
underground rather than tearing up a new street a few years from now. To me, it is just
con1mon sense.
Commissioner Y okeley: The lines can't stay on the catwalk or building. They are going to
have to be removed sometime and I think now is the time to do it. It is never going to be
cheaper.

Commissioner Yokeley made a motion to p1·oceed with this p1·oject (place utility lines on the
west side of Willow Street underground and include three decOl'ative lights) with the hope that
it can be absorbed within the contingency funds. Commissioner Brown seconded it and it was
passed by a thrne to one vote:
Vote A ye: Commissione1·s Yokeley, Brown, and Bl'inkley
Vote Nay: Commissione1· Cawley
BOARD TO DISCUSS MOUNT AIRY MUSEUM OF REGIONAL HISTORY FUNDING
REQUEST-COMMISSIONER YOKELEY:
Commissioner Brinkley: I was impressed with the comments made tonight during the
presentation. I have talked with many people about the Museum. I love the Museum and I
would love to see the Museum to somehow be able to advertise better. We have an excellent
Museum and I would like to see it to flourish. I will mention that nothing was said about
what the city has given in the past to the Museum. In FY 2016-2017, the City gave the
Museum $20,900 ($10,000 Special Agency Request Funding and $10,900 for AED
Purchase/Cornice Repairs). The city also gave an extra $5,000 to the Museum for an HVAC
unit back in 2013. I have never been in favor of promoting or donating to an organization
that has their own fundraiser that they had to hire. I look forward to the future and can't
wait to see a change. I think it is exciting to see what is being done.
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Commissioner Cawley: I was one who was hoping when we were doing the budget that we
would budget this. I understand the third part of the motion was to strongly encourage
monies for years six through ten ... I don't support that. I support us doing what was
requested this year from the Museum. Last meeting, the Surry Arts Council received what
could end up being $1 million but it is reimbursement and if the money comes from
somewhere else, then they don't get it from the city. They have to have spent the money
before they would get reimbursed. This is a diffe1·ent concept. When the Surry Arts Council
does something, the city owns the building. You are changing the front door again and who is
to say that a new Museum board in five years wants to change it back. I appreciate the
Museum and what they bring to the city. I hope the $100,000/year for five years that I am
willing to support will be an appreciated contribution because we aren't doing that for
anyone else that owns their own buildings and pays for their fundraising.
Commissioner Yokeley: The Museum and Surry Arts Council are two different things. The
Museum isn't in it to make money, they are there to preserve history and provide activities
and educational activities for people. I would be in favor of giving them the money without
any contingencies on the back end.
Commissioner Brinkley: Will the next board have an opportunity to see how the money is
being spent?
Barbara Jones: We will need to do a resolution and grant contract to make sure it is for a
public purpose and to have the criteria this board sets. When you authOl'ize something like
this, there is a contract created to satisfy all of the legal requirements.
Commissioner Brown: I have done some research on this and the important purposes of
museums all over the U.S. is to train children about local history. I know how important that
is because I am a historian myself. Our museum is doing a great job bringing school children
in and we want that to continue.

Commissione1· Yokeley made a motion 1) for $100,000 he taken out of the City's fund balance
to grant to the Mount Airy Museum of Regional History ("Museum") during this fiscal year;
2) encom·age future hoards for the next four yeai·s to strongly consider funding the Museum
$100,000/year; and 3) that granting the Museum $100,000/year during years six through ten he
considernd favmahly at the City's Capital Planning Meeting (to he held in the near future).
Commissioner Brnwn seconded it aml it was apprnved unanimously.
Commissioner Cawley: I think it is important that we let everyone know that one board can't
hold another board responsible for the budget. What we can take care of is this $100,000
tonight-we can't hold a future board to this.
Staff will prepare the documents needed for this item for the next board meeting.

BOARD TO DISCUSS OFF-YEAR ELECTION CHANGE-COMMISSIONER CAWLEY:
Commissioner Cawley stated he would like for the board to consider moving the City of
Mount Airy elections to even years. He doesn't see a reason not to do it and doesn't care if it
is moved to 2020 or 2022. The request would have to go before the State Legislature.
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Barbara Jones suggested asking the Board of Elections to attend the next meeting to review
the process of changing election years.
Commissioner Brinkley would like to see this vote in December with the new board members.
Commissioner Yokeley stated he would like to see this happen but suggests it be done in 2022
because he doesn't feel there would be enough time for it to be done in 2020. Extend the
current terms (Mayor Rowe, Commissioner Cawley, and Commissioner Y okeley) one year as
well as the three new board membe1·s that will be sworn in at the first meeting in December.
Commissioner Cawley made a motion to start the pl'Ocess to move the City of Mount Afry
municipal elections to even yeai·s beginning in 2022 with the Mayo1· elected in 2017 shall serve
a tei·m of five yeai·s, hut the Mayor's success01·s shall serve terms of four yeal's; and the
members of the Board of Commissioners elected in 2017 and 2019 shall serve terms of five
yea1·s, hut the members' successors shall serve te1·ms of four yeai·s. Commissioner Yokeley
seconded it and it was approved unanimously.
REMARKS BY OFFICIALS:
Commissioner Brinkley: Impressed with the donation of the turn out gear from the FiTe
Department.
Good meeting and presentations. Looks forward to the Museum's changes.
Misses Commissioner Armbrister and prayers for his family.
Appreciates this board,
Commissioner Yokeley: Prayers for Commissioner Armbrister's family.
Commissioner Y okeley made a motion to accept the $28,000 from MAD, Inc. to pay fOl' the
three decorntive lights along the west side of Willow Street (if needed). Commissioner B1·inkley
seconded it and it was approved unanimously.
Commissioner Brown: Misses Commissioner Armbrister.
Will continue to keep the city in his prayers. Has enjoyed the good projects achieved for the
city and doesn't regret the hours and miles he has spent for the city in the past.
Thanked God for guiding him to do good things for the citizens.
Commissione1· Cawley: Thanked Chief Watson for the final sign off at Commissioner
Armbrister's funeral.
Will miss Michella Huff. Will be hard to find someone to fill her shoes.
Bai·hara Jones: Commissioner Armbrister's funeral was a very special service. There were
many touching moments. Prayers are with Commissioner Armbrister's family.
Good luck to Michella Huff and wishes her nothing but the best in her future endeavor.
Thanked Michella for her all she has done for the city.
She and city staff visited Thanington FiTst Graders during their Community Leaders Day
program.
Mayor Rowe: Funeral for Commissioner Armbrister was very touching.
Will miss Michella Huff-wishes her the best in her future endeavor.
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ADJOURNMENT:
On motion by Commissione1· Brinkley, seconded by Commissioner Yokeley and passed
unanimously, the meeting was adjom·ned.
Approved and adopted this the 7th day of Novembe1·, 2019.

David L. Rowe, Mayor
ATTEST:

Melissa N. Brame, City Clerk
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Resolution Numbe1· 2020-033

CHANGING REGULAR MUNICIPAL ELECTIONS IN THE CITY OF MOUNT AIRY TO
EVEN-NUMBERED YEARS
WHEREAS, Article III.-Elections Section 3.1-Regular Municipal Elections of the
Charter of the City of Mount Airy, states that regular municipal elections shall be held in
each odd-numbered year in accordance with the uniform municipal election laws of North
Carolina. The Mayor and Board shall be elected by the nonpartisan primary and election
method as provided in G.S. 163A-1585 and G.S. 163A-1618 with the two Board members
who are apportioned to each ward being required to reside in said wa1·d, and with all
candidates being nominated and elected by all the qualified voters of the City; and
WHEREAS, it is the desire of the City of Mount Airy Board of Commissioners to
amend Section 3.1 of Article III-Elections and move to an even year election year method:
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF MOUNT AIRY BOARD OF
COMMISSIONERS IN OPEN SESSION THAT:
Section 1.

The Board of Commissioners hereby requests that the North Carolina General
Assembly enact a bill to amend Article III. Elections, Section 3.1-Regular
Municipal Elections in the City of Mount Airy to read as follows: Beginning in
2022, regular Municipal Elections shall be held in each even numbered year
election cycle in accordance with municipal election laws of North Carolina.
The Mayor and Board of shall be elected by the nonpartisan primary and
election method as provided in G.S. 163A-1585 and G.S. 163A-1618 with the
two Board members who are apportioned to each ward being required to reside
in said ward, and with all candidates being nominated and elected by all the
qualified voters of the City.

Section 2.

The members of the Board of Commissioners shall serve for terms of four
years, and the Mayor shall serve for a term of four years, beginning the day
and hour of the organizational meeting following their election, as established
by ordinance in accordance with this Charter; provided they shall serve until
their successors are elected and qualify, provided further that the Mayor
elected in 2017 shall serve a term of five years, but the Mayor's successors shall
serve terms of four years; and the members of the Board of Commissioners
elected in 2017 and 2019 shall serve terms of five years, but the members'
successors shall serve terms of four years.

Section 3.

This action was approved on October 17, 2019 and the resolution is hereby
adopted and confirmed this day on November 7, 2019.

Section 4.

This amendment is hereby effective upon ratification by the North Carolina
General Assembly.

David L. Rowe, Mayor
ATTEST:
Melissa N. Brame, City Clerk

Excerpt from October 17, 2019 Regular Meeting Minutes:

BOARD TO DISCUSS OFF-YEAR ELECTION CHANGE-COMMISSIONER CAWLEY:
Commissioner Cawley stated he would like for the board to consider moving the City of Mount
Airy elections to even years. He doesn't see a reason not to do it and doesn't care if it is moved
to 2020 or 2022. The request would have to go before the State Legislature.
Barbara Jones suggested asking the Board of Elections to attend the next meeting to review
the process of changing election years.
Commissioner Brinkley would like to see this vote in December with the new board members.
Commissioner Y okeley stated he would like to see this happen but suggests it be done in 2022
because he doesn't feel there would be enough time for it to be done in 2020. Extend the current
terms (Mayor Rowe, Commissioner Cawley, and Commissioner Yokeley) one year as well as
the three new board members that will be sworn in at the first meeting in Decembe1·.

Commissioner Cawley made a motion to start the prncess to move the City of Mount Afry
municipal elections to even years beginning in 2022 with the May01· elected in 2017 shall serve a
term of five yea1·s, hut the Mayor's success01·s shall serve terms of four years; and the members
of the Board of Commissione1·s elected in 2017 and 2019 shall serve terms of five years, hut the
members' success01·s shall serve terms of four years. Commissione1· Yokeley seconded it and it
was approved unanimously.

RESOLUTION NUMBER# 2020-034
A RESOLUTION
Approval of Tax Releases
WHEREAS, a list of taxes to be released has been submitted by the Revenue Collections
Assistant II in her capacity of Tax Collector for the City of Mount Airy Finance
Department; and
WHEREAS, North Carolina General Statute 105-373 provides for settlement of such
taxes; and
WHEREAS North Carolina General Statute 105-381 provides for release or refund of
taxes; and
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF MOUNT AIRY BOARD
OF COMISSIONERS MEETING IN OPEN SESSION THAT:
Section 1.

Said taxes be released or refunded in accordance with said statutes for the
reasons stated on the attached list.

Section 2.

This Resolution shall become effective upon approval by the Board of
Commissioners of the City of Mount Airy.

Adopted this 7th day of November, 2019.

David L. Rowe, Mayor

ATTEST:

Melissa N. Brame, City Clerk

Date:
To:
From:
Re.:

23-Oct-19
Board of Commissioner of City of Mount Airy
Sherri Coalson, Revenue Collections Asst. II
Release and Refund of City Property Taxes

Account
Taxpayer
2019 - General Fund
34443 Johnson Nurseries & Landscape
26962 Fountain of Life Family Worship
8846 Bannertown Baptist Church

Total
2018- General Fund
34443 Johnson Nurseries & Landscape
33828 Ortega, Herculano

Total
2017- General Fund
33828 Ortega, Herculano

Total
2016 - General Fund
33828 Ortega, Herculano

Total
2015 - General Fund
33828 Ortega, Herculano

Total

Grand Total

Value

TAX AMOUNT
Advertising
Personal Late Listing

Real

Total

Reason

14,805
300,220
11,400
326,425

0.00
1,801.32
68.40
1,869.72

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

88.83
0.00
0.00
88.83

8.89
0.00
0.00
8.89

97.72
1,801.32
68.40
1,967.44

No Longer Owned
Equilization Review
Equilization Review

11,750
300
12,050

0.00
0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00
0.00

70.50
1.80
72.30

7.05
0.14
7.19

77.55
1.94
79.49

No Longer Owned
No Longer Owned

300
300

0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00

1.44
1.44

0.14
0.14

1.58
1.58

No Longer Owned

300
300

0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00

1.44
1.44

0.16
0.16

1.60
1.60

No Longer Owned

300
300

0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00

1.44
1.44

0.16
0.16

1.60
1.60

No Longer Owned

339,375

1869.72

0

165.45

16.54

2,051.71

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020-035
RESOLUTION MAKING PLANNING BOARD APPOINTMENTS
WHEREAS, the Planning Board consists of nine members with five members
residing in Mount Airy municipal limits, appointed by the City Board of Commissione1·s and
four members residing in the Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ), appointed by the Surry
County Board of Commissioners; and
WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners voted to relinquish the Extraterritorial
Jurisdiction area to Surry County beginning September 1, 2019; and
WHEREAS, due to the ETJ's relinquishment to the County, all nine Planning Board
members shall now reside within Mount Airy municipal limits; and
WHEREAS, the ETJ's relinquishment has created four vacant positions on the
Planning Board; and
WHEREAS, three members are eligible for reappointment with one expressing he
wasn't interested in being 1·eappointed:
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF MOUNT AIRY
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING IN OPEN SESSION THAT:
Section 1.

Paul Madren is hereby appointed to the Planning Board fOl' a tluee-year term
expiring September 30, 2022.

Section 2.

Dwight McAlexander is hereby appointed to the Planning Board for a threeyear term expiring September 30, 2022.

Section 3.

Calvin Vaughn is hereby appointed to the Planning Board for a three-year
term expiring September 30, 2022.

Section 4.

Tami Springthorpe is hereby appointed to the Planning Boa1·d for a three-year
term expiring September 30, 2022.

Section 5.

Randall France is hereby appointed to the Planning Boa1·d for a three-year
term expiring October 31, 2022.

Section 6.

David Jones is hereby reappointed to the Planning Board for a three-year
term expiring October 31, 2022.

Section 7.

Jim Cavallo is hereby reappointed to the Planning Board for a three-year term
expiring October 31, 2022.

Section 8.

This resolution becomes effective upon approval.

Approved and adopted this the 7th day of November, 2019.

David L. Rowe, Mayor

ATTEST:

Melissa N. Brame, City Clerk

Paul Madren Bio
Mr. Madren and his wife moved to Mount Airy in 2002. They have three children and five
grandchildren. He is a graduate of NC State and was inducted into the NC State Electrical
and Computer Engineering Hall of Fame in 2017. His hobbies include beekeeping and golf.
He is a member of the Mount Airy Museum of Regional History's Board of Directors and the
Sunshine Rotary Club. He is also a member of First Baptist Church in Mount Airy. Mr.
Madren loves Mount Airy and is interested in volunteering on the Planning Board.

Dwight McAlexande1· Bio
Mr. McAlexander would like to serve on the Planning Board. He has been a resident of Surry
County his entire live and a resident of Mount Airy since 2003. He is retired from The Volvo
Group Trucks in Greensboro and has worked with Martin Collins to attract one manufacturer
to the City. He is very interested in helping the city and its residents.

Calvin Vaughn Jr. Bio
Mr. Vaughn has a general knowledge of the city and is a municipal resident. He understands
an advisory board roll capacity. He was bmn in Mount Airy and is a graduate of Mount Airy
High School. He is a retired local government employee (Retired from the City of High
Point). His education includes a Masters of Public Affairs from UNCG.

Tami SpringthOl'pe Bio
Ms. Springthorpe is interested in serving on the Planning Board for the City of Mount Airy.
Although she hasn't been a resident for a long time, she considers Mount Airy as her home
and would like to contribute in making this area the best it can be. She moved to Mount Airy
last year and married Dwight Springthorpe, who was bmn and raised in this area. Her
background consists of two nursing degrees and two business degrees. She believes she would
be a non-biased, non-emotional voice that is needed for the Planning Board.

Randal V. France Bio
Mr. France is a graduate of North Stokes High School and served in the US Army from 19721975. He received his BS degree in Healthcare Management from Park University Extension
at Fort Jackson, SC. He retired from the Department of Veteran Affairs (Dorn V AMC,
Columbia, SC) in 2010 where he worked in both Rehab Medicine and Social Service
departments. He retired with a combined federal service of 37 years. He relocated to Mount
Airy in 2012 where he presently resides.

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020-036
RESOLUTION MAKING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT APPOINTMENTS
WHEREAS, the Board of Adjustment consists of eleven members with six members
residing in Mount Airy municipal limits, appointed by the City Board of Commissioners and
five members residing in the Extrnterritorial Jurisdiction (ET J), appointed by the Surry
County Board of Commissioners; and
WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners voted to relinquish the ExtraterritOTial
Jurisdiction area to Surry County beginning September 1, 2019; and
WHEREAS, due to the ET J's relinquishment to the County, all eleven members shall
now reside within Mount Airy municipal limits; and
WHEREAS, the ETJ's relinquishment has created five vacant positions on the
Planning Board:
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF MOUNT AIRY
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING IN OPEN SESSION THAT:
Section 1.

Brandon McCann is hereby appointed to the Board of Adjustment for a fouryear term expiring September 30, 2023.

Section 2.

Blanton Youell is hereby appointed to the Board of Adjustment for a fouryear term expiring September 30, 2023.

Section 3.

This resolution shall become effective upon approval.

Approved and adopted this the 7th day of November, 2019.

David L. Rowe, Mayor
ATTEST:

Melissa N. Brame, City Clerk

Brandon McCann Bio
Dr. McCann is a physical therapist with Nmthern Regional Rehab in Mount Airy. He
received his Doctorate in Physical Therapy from Winston Salem State University, his
Master's in Business Administration from Gardner-Webb University, and his Bachelor in
Science in Business Administration from Appalachian State University. He serves on the
board of directors for the Old Hickory Council, Boy Scouts of America along with serving in
the Dogwood District. He currently se1·ves as a Mount Airy Chamber of Commerce
Ambassador. He is originally from Surry County and moved to Mount Airy in 2019. Prior to
becoming a physical therapist, he worked in economic development and tourism. He is an
Eagle Scout and a Vigil Honor member. His hobbies include hiking, camping, and acting.

Blanton Youell Bio
Mr. Youell has a Parks and Recreation Degree from VCU. Before moving to Mount Airy, he
was the operations director of a United Methodist Camp and Retreat Cednter located
between Richmond and Charlottesville. He has lived in Mount AiTy since 2011 as a stay at
home dad and a DJ.

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020-037
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING RATIFICATION OF AMENDMENT TO EME INDUSTRIAL
SERVICES, LLC CONTRACT
WHEREAS, the City of Mount Airy Board of Commissioners approved a contract
with EME Industrial Services, LLC for asbestos abatement in certain buildings located
within the Spencer's Redevelopment Area; and
WHEREAS, the contractor has discovered additional asbestos in Buildings B and C,
which will be an extra cost for removal; and
WHEREAS, the original contract with EME Industrial Services, LLC shall be
amended to reflect the extra cost to remove the additional asbestos; and
WHEREAS, it is the recommendation to authorize ratification of the Amendment to
the EME Industrial Services, LLC asbestos abatement contract for the removal of the
additional asbestos discovered in Buildings Band C for the fee of $3,689.00; and
WHEREAS, funding for said amendment is available within the existing project
ordinance that was adopted by the Board of Commissioners on June 6, 2019:
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF MOUNT AIRY
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING IN OPEN SESSION THAT:
Section 1.

The Board of Commissioners does hereby authorize ratification of the
Amendment to the EME Industrial Services, LLC asbestos abatement
contract for the additional cost of $3,689.00.

Section 2.

This resolution shall become effective upon appTOval.

Approved and adopted this the 7 th day of November, 2019.

David L. Rowe, Mayor
ATTEST:

Melissa N. Brame, City Clerk

ORDINANCE # 2019-048
PROJECT ORDINANCE AMENDMENT
FOR
SPENCERS DEVELOPMENT PROJECT
WHERAS the City of Mount Airy adopted a project ordinance for the Spencer's Development Project on
September 1, 2016;
AND WHEREAS it is necessary to amend this project ordinance to reflect costs for asbestos survey and
abatement, and demolition of certain properties within the Spencer's Mill Development area;
BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Commissioners of the City of Mount Airy, North Carolina, that,
pursuant to Section 13.2 of Chapter 159 of the General Statutes of North Carolina, the project ordinance
is hereby amended as follows:
Section 3
The following amounts are appropriated for the project:
Economic and physical development

$
$

350,000
350,000

Section 4
The following revenues are anticipated to be available to complete this project:
Transfer from General Fund

Adopted this 61h day of June, 2019

$
$

350,000
350,000

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020-038
RESOLUTION SETTING PUBLIC HEARING REGARDING REQUEST TO REZONE
MULTIPLE PROPERTIES LOCATED ON DEPOT STREET, FACTORY STREET, AND
HOUSTON STREET

WHEREAS, the City of Mount Airy has received a request from Pete Pyles to rezone
multiple prnperties (total 3.06 acres) located at the 700 block of Depot Street, the 800 block
of Factory Street, 808 Factory Street, 802 Factory Street, and 1019 Houston Street from R-6
(General Residential) to B-3 (Neighborhood Business Conditional District); and
WHEREAS, the Tax Identification Numbers for said properties are as follows:
5020-18-40-7866; 5020-18-40-9928; 5020-18-40-9951; 5020-18-40-9876; 5020-19-50-1915;
5020-19-51-0081; 5020-19-51-0065; 5020-19-51-0132; 5020-18-41-8097
WHEREAS, the Planning Board of the City of Mount Airy has recommended
approval of the request to the Board of Commissioners with the following conditions:
1. If the subject properties are developed together, entrance to the development shall
be limited to Factory Street
2. Uses shall be limited to the following:
a) Educational and Institutional Uses
b) Business, Professional, and Personal Services with the following exceptions:
1.
Convenience food stores
11.
Dry cleaning and laundry facilities
m.
Laundromats
1v.
Rehabilitation or counseling services
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF MOUNT AIRY
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING IN OPEN SESSION THAT:
Section 1.

That a public hearing be scheduled fOT Thursday, November 21, 2019 at 7:00
pm to hear public comment on the above mentioned request.

Section 2.

That notice of the public hea1·ing shall be published in the Mount Airy News, a
newspaper having general circulation in the City of Mount Airy, at least ten
(10) days prior to the date of the public hearing.

Section 3.

This resolution shall become effective upon approval.

Approved and adopted this the 7th day of November, 2019.

David L. Rowe, Mayor
ATTEST:

Melissa N. Brame, City Clerk

City of Mount Airy
November 7, 2019 Board of Commissioners Meeting

Staff Report
October 29, 2019

. Mayor Rowe & Board of Commissioners

To:
From:

Ben Barcroft - City Planner

Subject:

2019-REZ-06 {R-6

to 8-3 CD}

A. ACTION REQUESTED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS

Motion to set a public hearing on November 21, 2019 to hear comments on the request to rezone
parcels 5020-18-40-7866, 5020-18-40-9928, 5020-18-40-9951, 5020-18-40-9876, 5020-19-501915, 5020-19-51-0081, 5020-19-51-0065, 5020-19-51-0132 & 5020-18-41-8097 (3.06 acres)
located at the 700 block of Depot Street, 800 block of Factory Street, 808 Factory Street, 802
Factory Street & 1019 Houston Street, from R-6 to 8-3 CD.
B.

REQUIRED VOTES TO PASS ACTIONS

A majority vote is required to pass the requested actions.
C.

BACKGROUND

Applicant:

Pete Pyles
1235 Gunsmoke Road
Tobaccoville, NC 27050

Property Owner(s):

ASHBURN EVERETT & ASHBURN KATHRYN
138 Old Hollow Road
Pilot Mountain, NC 27041
AEG IS FAMILY HEALTH CENTERS
3540 Clemmons Road, Suite 1
Clemmons, NC 27012
NICHOLS AND STANFIELD LLC
PO BOX 1752
Mount Airy, NC 27030
JOHNSON BOBBY RAY & JOHN SON PENNY
223 Mayberry Avenue
Mount Airy, NC 27030
2019-REZ-06
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RIVAS JOSE D & RIVAS MARIA
990 S. Main Street
Mount Airy, NC 27030
TILLEY ANDREW BARRY & TILLEY KRISTIN ANDREWS
PO BOX 280
TOAST NC 27049
700 block of Depot Street, 800 block of Factory Street, 808

Physical Address(s):

Factory Street, 802 Factory Street & 1019 Houston Street
Property PIN(s):

5020-18-40-7866,

5020-18-40-992 8,

5020-18-40-9951,

5020-18-40-9876,

5020-19-50-1915,

5020-19-51-0081,

5020-19-51-0065, 5020-19-51-0132 & 5020-18-41-8097
Zoning Area:

3.06 Acres

Current Use:

Undeveloped / Single-Family Dwelling

Current Zoning District:

R-6 {General Residential)

Proposed Zoning District:

8-3 CD {Neighborhood Business Conditional District)

D. PLANNING BOARD REVIEW

The Planning Board reviewed the proposed amendment on October 28, 2019. Several property
owners and neighbors attended the meeting with about half in favor of the rezoning and the
other half against it. The Planning Board found that the proposed zoning (B-3 CD) is consistent
with the future land use recommendations in the City of Mount Airy Comprehensive Plan and
adjacent non-residential uses and voted (2-1) to recommend approval of the rezoning request
with the following conditions:
1)

If the subject properties are developed together, entrance to the development shall be
limited to Factory Street.

2)

Uses shall be limited to the following:
a.

Educational & Institutional Uses

b. Business, Professional & Personal Services w/ the following exceptions:
i. Convenience food stores
ii. Dry cleaning and laundry facilities
iii.

Laundromats

iv.

Rehabilitation or counseling services

E. ATTACHMENT
1.

Zoning Map
2019-REZ-06
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RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020-039
RESOLUTION SETTING PUBLIC HEARING REGARDING CITY OF MOUNT AIRY ZONING
ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENTS
WHEREAS, the City of Mount Airy Planning Department proposes certain sections
of the City of Mount Airy Zoning Ordinance be amended; and
WHEREAS, Section 3.9, Section 3.10, Section 15.4, Section 6.4 of the City's Zoning
Ordinance are the proposed sections to be amended; and
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF MOUNT AIRY
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING IN OPEN SESSION THAT:
Section 1.

That a public hearing be scheduled for Thursday, November 21, 2019 at 7:00
pm to hear public comment on the above mentioned item.

Section 2.

That notice of the public hearing shall be published in the Mount Airy News, a
newspaper having general circulation in the City of Mount Airy, at least ten
(10) days prim to the date of the public hearing.

Section 3.

This resolution shall become effective upon approval.

Approved and adopted this the 7th day of November, 2019.

David L. Rowe, Mayor
ATTEST:

Melissa N. Brame, City Clerk

City of Mount Airy
November 7, 2019 Board of Commissioners Meeting

Staff Report
October 29, 2019
To:

Mayor Rowe & Board of Commissioners

From:

Andy Goodall Jr. - Planning Director

Subject:

2019-ZTA-03

A. ACTION REQUESTED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS

Motion to set the public hearing for 2019-ZTA-03 for November 21, 2019.
B. REQUIRED VOTES TO PASS ACTION

A majority vote is required to pass the requested action.
C. SECTIONS OF ZONING ORDINANCE PROPOSED TO BE AMENDED

1.

Section 3.9 - Building Setback Exceptions

2.

Section 3.10 - Fences and Retaining Walls

3.

Section 15.4 - Definitions

4.

Section 6.4 - Table of Permitted and Conditional Uses

Additions are highlighted in Green. Deletions are highlighted in Red .
D. PROPOSED AMENDMENTS
Section 3.9

Building Setback Exceptions

Setback distances shall be measured from the property line or street right-of-way line to the
nearest portion of any building or structure excluding:

1.

Unenclosed porches, attached carports, balconies or decks which do not project into
any required yard more than three (3) feet; and

2.

Chimneys, flues, eaves, roof overhangs, window sills and bay windows which do not
project into any required yard more than three (3) feet; and

3.

Patios, drives, walkways, if no portion of the same extends more than twelve (12)
inches off the ground; and

4.

Any structure that is a mere appendage to a building such as a flagpole or fountain;
and
2019-ZTA-03
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5.

Residential handicap ramps

Section 3.10
1.

Fences and Retaining Walls

Residential Fences and Retaining Walls

Fences erected in the front yard sha ll not exceed four (4' ) feet in height and shal l be
semi-to-non opaque. Opaque (privacy) fences are not permitted within the front yard.
Fences or walls erected in the side yard shal l not exceed six (6' ) in height . Side yard
fences may extend from the side property li ne to the front wall of the residence.
Fences and walls erected in the rear yard shal l not exceed eight (8' ) in height. The
height limitations for retaining walls sha ll app ly only to the height above the top of the
soil retained by such wall.
2.

Non~Residential Fences and Retaining Walls

Fences and walls erected in the front and side yards shall not exceed six (6' ) feet in
height. Fences and walls erected in the rear yard sha ll not exceed eight (8' } in height.
The height limitations for retaining walls sha ll apply on ly to the height above the top
of the soil reta in ed by such wa ll.
Fences or walls may be erected in required side yards provided such wal ls and fences
do not exceed 6 feet in height and are more distant from the street than any part of
the principal building on the same lot or abutting lot.

Fences and walls may be

erected in requi red rear yards provided such walls or fences do not exceed 8 feet in
height. The height limitations for retaining walls shall apply only to the height above
the top of the soil retained by such wall. Fences may come up to the front edge of the
house and still be considered to be in the side yard.
Section 15.4

Definitions

Electronic gaming operations. Any business enterprise, whether as a principal

ran accessory

use, where persons utilize electronic machines, includin g but not limit ed to computers and
gam in g terminals, to conduct games of chance, including sweepstakes, and whe e cash,
merchandise or other items of value are redeemed or otherwise distributed, whether or not
the value of such distribution is determined by electronic games played or by predetermined
odds . This term includes, but is not limited to internet cafes, internet sweepstake.s, beach
sweepstakes or cybercafes. This does not include any lottery approved by the State of North
Carolina.

2019-ZTA-03

■

Recreational Uses

Amusement arcades and indoor
places of entertainment;
including bowling alleys, pool

X

X

X

X

X

rooms, skating rinks, batting
cages, tennis courts
Electronic gam ing operations

C

E. APPLICABLE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN GOALS
Land Use & Growth Management

Establish a sustainable land development pattern that complements the character of the City,
utilizes existing resources and promotes economic development.
F.

PLANNING BOARD RECOMMENDATION (OCTOBER 28, 2019}

The Planning Board has reviewed and recommends approval (3-0) of the proposed
amendments and finds them to be consistent with the City of Mount Airy Comprehensive Plan's
land use and growth management goals.

2019-ZTA-03
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A20-005
ORDINANCE # 2020-011
BUDGET ORDINANCE AMENDMENT
WHEREAS the City of Mount Airy adopted the 2019-20 budget on June 12, 2019;
AND WHEREAS it is necessary to amend the budget ordinance in order to provide funding for HVAC
replacement at the Andy Griffith Playhouse
AND WHEREAS General Statute 159-15 of the North Carolina Government Fiscal Control Act provides
authority to amend a current municipal budget;
NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained that authorization is hereby given to make the following adjustments:
Increase
(Decrease)
Section 1. General Fund Appropriations
Legislative

30,573
30,573

Section 2. General Fund Revenue Estimates
Appropriation of Fund Balance

30,573
30,573

Adopted this 7th day of November, 2019

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ , Mayor

Attested: _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ , City Clerk

MEMORANDUM
To:

Mayor and Board of Commissioners

From:

Nicki Brame

Date:

November 5, 2019

Re:

Item 9a (Ordinance 2020-011)

All:
An HV AC unit for the Andy Griffith Museum is in of replacement. The unit is a dual circuit
unit and circuit #1 needs an expansion valve replaced. The unit is also leaking refrigerant
and needs a leak search, which may or may not be found to be repairable. The unit is past its
life expectancy and it is recommended that the unit be replaced.
Thank you and if you have any questions, please let me know.

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020-040
RESOLUTION TO PROCEED WITH ACQUISITION OF PROPERTY LOCATED ON CARTER
STREET (ID 5929-12-75-6513)

WHEREAS, the city has the opportunity to acquire a 3.12 acre parcel located on
Carter Street (Tax ID 5929-12-75-6513) fm the purpose of recreational uses; and
WHEREAS, the seller has agreed to a total purchase price of $15,000; and
WHEREAS, it is staff recommendation for the city to proceed with the purchase of
said property located on Carter Street:
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF MOUNT AIRY
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING IN OPEN SESSION THAT:
Section 1.

The Board of Commissioners does hereby authorize and approve the
acquisition of a 3.12 acre parcel located on Carter Strnet (Tax ID 5929-12-756513) for the total purchase price of $15,000.

Section 2.

The Board of Commissioners does hereby authorize and instruct the City
Attorney to prepare all documentation necessary for the purchase of said
property.

Section 3.

The Board of Commissioners does hereby authorize the Mayor to execute all
documentation necessary for the purchase of said property.

Section 4.

This resolution shall become effective upon approval.

Approved and adopted this the 7 th clay of November, 2019.

David L. Rowe, Mayor
ATTEST:

Melissa N. Brame, City Clerk

A20-006
ORDINANCE # 2020-012
BUDGET ORDINANCE AMENDMENT
WHEREAS the City of Mount Airy adopted the 2019-20 budget on June 12, 2019;
AND WHEREAS it is necessary to amend the budget ordinance in order to provide funding for purchase
of land on Carter Street;
AND WHEREAS General Statute 159-15 of the North Carolina Government Fiscal Control Act provides
authority to amend a current municipal budget;
NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained that authorization is hereby given to make the following adjustments:
Increase
(Decrease)
Section 1. General Fund Appropriations
Parks and Recreation

15,000
15,000

Section 2. General Fund Re1..enue Estimates
Appropriation of Fund Balance

15,000
15,000

Adopted this 7th day of November, 2019

- - - - - - - - - - - - ~ Mayor

A t t e s t e d : - - - - - - - - - - - ~ City Clerk

Excerpt from October 3, 2019 Regular Meeting Minutes:
OPEN SESSION:
On motion by Commissioner Brinkley, seconded by Commissione1· Yokeley and passed
unanimously, the hoai·d entered hack into open session with the following:
Commissione1· Yokeley made a motion to make an offer of $15,000 to Resource Institute fOl'
property located on Carter St1·eet (3.12 acrns ID 5929-12-75-6513). Commissioner Brown
seconded it and it was approved by a th1·ee to two vote (Mayor Rowe was the tie hrnaker):
Vote Aye: Commissioners Yokeley, Bl'Own, and May01· Rowe
Vote Nay: Commissioners B1·inkley and Cawley

OFFER TO PURCHASE AND CONTRACT - VACANT LOT/LAND
For valuable consideration, the receipt and legal sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Buyer offers to purchase and Seller
upon acceptance agrees to sell and convey the Property on the terms and conditions of this Offer To Purchase and Contract and any
addendum or modification made in accordance with its terms (together the "Contract").
1. TERMS AND DEFINITIONS: The terms listed below shall have the respective meaning given them as set forth adjacent to each
term.
(a) "Seller":
RESOURCE INSTITUTE INC. a North Carolina non-profit corporation whose address is 2631 Reynolda Rd Suite A Winston
Salem, NC 27106
(b) "Buyer":

CITY OF MOUNT AIRY, a North Carolina municipal corporation
(c) "Property": The Property shall include all that certain piece, parcel or tract ofreal property described below together with all
appurtenances thereto including any improvements located thereon.
Legal Description: Lying and being on Carter Street in Mount Airy Township, Surry County, North Carolina, and being more
particularly described as follows:
BEING ALL of Tract #2, containing 4.785 acres, more or less, as shown on the plat of survey prepared on December 06, 2013 for
the City of Mount Airy by Kinder Land Surveying under the supervision of Franklin G. Kinder, PLS #4462 recorded in Plat Book
030, Page 119, Surry County Registry, reference to which is made for a more particularized description. This conveyance is made
SUBJECT TO the following: Conservation Easement appearing in Record Book 1470, Page 785 Suny County Regist,y; 60'
public right of way of Woltz Street; 60' public right of way of NCSR #1844 ("Carter Street"); JOO' right of way for the Southern
Railway; Contract and Sewer Easement with the City of Mount Airy recorded in Deed Book 364, Page 677, Sur,y County Registry;
Rights of others, if any, under the Option and Right of Way Agreement recorded in Record Book 721, Page 620, Surry County
Registry; Subject to such state offacts as appear within the plats of survey recorded in Plat Book 6, Page 98, and Plat Book 30,
Page I 19, Suny County Registry; All applicable public utility easements and rights-of-way; Rights of others entitled to the
continuous and uninterrupted flow of waters bounding or crossing the premises.
The PIN/PID or other identification number of the Property is: 592912756513
Assessed Acreage is 3 .12 acres.
Some or all of the Property may be described in Deed Book 1470 at Page 0798, Surry County Registry
(d) "Purchase Price":
$ 15,000.00 paid in U.S. Dollars at Closing (as defined herein)
(e) "Escrow Agent" (insert name): CAMPBELL, LAW GROUP, PLLC, 235 E. Independence Blvd, Mount Airy, NC 27030
(f) "Effective Date": The date that: (1) the last one of Buyer and Seller has signed or initialed this offer or the final counteroffer, if
any, and (2) such signing or initialing is communicated to the party making the offer or counteroffer, as the case may be. The
parties acknowledge and agree that the initials lines at the bottom of each page of this Contract are merely evidence of their having
reviewed the terms of each page, and that the complete execution of such initials lines shall not be a condition of the effectiveness
of this Agreement.

(g) "Settlement": The proper execution and delivery to the closing attorney of all documents necessary to complete the transaction
contemplated by this Contract, including the deed, settlement statement, deed of trust and other loan or conveyance documents,
and the closing attorney's receipt of all funds necessary to complete such transaction
(h) "Settlement Date": The parties agree that Settlement will take place on _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ __
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _(the "Settlement Date"), unless otherwise agreed in writing, at a time and place designated by Buyer.
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(i) "Closing": The completion of the legal process which results in the transfer of title to the Property from Seller to Buyer, which
includes the following steps: (1) the Settlement (defined above); (2) the completion of a satisfactory title update to the Property
following the Settlement; (3) the closing attorney's receipt of authorization to disburse all necessary funds; and (4) recordation in
the appropriate county registry of the deed(s) and deed(s) of trust, if any, which shall take place as soon as reasonably possible for
the closing attorney after Settlement. Upon Closing, the proceeds of sale shall be disbursed by the closing attorney in accordance
with the settlement statement and the provisions of Chapter 45A of the North Carolina General Statutes. If the title update should
reveal unexpected liens, encumbrances or other title defects, or if the closing attorney is not authorized to disburse all necessary
funds, then the Closing shall be suspended and the Settlement deemed delayed under Paragraph 9 (Delay in Settlement/Closing).
2.
PROPERTY INVESTIGATION: Buyer or Buyer's agents or representatives, at Buyer's expense, shall be entitled to
conduct all desired tests, surveys, appraisals, investigations, examinations and inspections of the Property as Buyer deems appropriate,
including but NOT limited to the following:
(i)

Soil and Environmental: Reports to determine whether the soil is suitable for Buyer's intended use and whether there is
any environmental contamination, law, rule or regulation that may prohibit, restrict or limit Buyer's intended use.
(ii) Septic/Sewer System: Any applicable investigation(s) to determine: (1) the condition of an existing sewage system, (2)
the costs and expenses to install a sewage system approved by an existing Improvement Permit, (3) the availability and
expense to connect to a public or community sewer system, and/or (4) whether an Improvement Permit or written
evaluation may be obtained from the County Health Department for a suitable ground absorption sewage system.
(iii) Water: Any applicable investigation(s) to determine: (1) the condition of an existing private drinking water well, (2) the
costs and expenses to install a private drinking water well approved by an existing Construction Permit, (3) the
availability, costs and expenses to connect to a public or community water system, or a shared private well, and/or (4)
whether a Construction Permit may be obtained from the County Health Department for a private drinking water well.
(iv) Review of Documents: Review of the Declaration of Restrictive Covenants, Bylaws, Articles of Incorporation, Rules
and Regulations, and other governing documents of any applicable owners' association and/or subdivision. If the
Property is subject to regulation by an owners' association, it is recommended that Buyer review the completed Owners'
Association And Addendum (Standard Form 2Al2-T) provided by Seller prior to signing this offer. It is also
recommended that the Buyer determine if the owners' association or its management company charges fees for providing
information required by Buyer's lender or confirming restrictive covenant compliance.
(v) Appraisals: An appraisal of the Property
(vi) Survey: A survey to determine whether the property is suitable for Buyer's intended use and the location of easements,
setbacks, property boundaries and other issues which may or may not constitute title defects.
(vii) Zoning and Governmental Regulation: Investigation of current or proposed zoning or other governmental regulation
that may affect Buyer's intended use of the Property, adjacent land uses, planned or proposed road construction, and
school attendance zones.
(viii) Flood Hazard: Investigation of potential flood hazards on the Prope1iy, and/or any requirement to purchase flood
insurance in order to obtain the Loan.
(ix) Utilities and Access: Availability, quality, and obligations for maintenance of utilities including electric, gas,
communication services, storm water management, and means of access to the Property and amenities.
(x) Streets/Roads: Investigation of the status of the street/road upon which the Property fronts as well as any other
street/road used to access the Property, including:(!) whether any street(s)/road(s) are public or private, (2) whether any
street(s)/road(s) designated as public are accepted for maintenance by the State of NC or any municipality, or (3) if
private or not accepted for public maintenance, the consequences and responsibility for maintenance and the existence,
terms and funding of any maintenance agreements.
Buyer's Obligation to Repair Damage: Buyer shall, at Buyer's expense, promptly repair any damage to the Property resulting
from any activities of Buyer and Buyer's agents and contractors, but Buyer shall not be responsible for any damage caused by
accepted practices applicable to any N.C. licensed professional performing reasonable appraisals, tests, surveys, examinations and
inspections of the Property. This repair obligation shall survive any termination of this Contract.
Indemnity: Buyer will indemnify and hold Seller harmless from all loss, damage, claims, suits or costs, which shall arise out of
any contract, agreement, or injury to any person or property as a result of any activities of Buyer and Buyer's agents and
contractors relating to the Property except for any loss, damage, claim, suit or cost arising out of pre-existing conditions of the
Property and/or out of Seller's negligence or willful acts or omissions. This indemnity shall survive this Contract and any
termination hereof.
Buyer's Right to Terminate: Buyer shall have the right to terminate this Contract for any reason or no reason, by delivering to
Seller written notice of termination (the "Termination Notice") within fifteen (15) days of the Effective Date, TIME BEING OF
THE ESSENCE. If Buyer timely delivers the Termination Notice, this Contract shall be terminated.
CLOSING SHALL CONSTITUTE ACCEPTANCE OF THE PROPERTY IN ITS THEN EXISTING CONDITION
UNLESS PROVISION IS OTHERWISE MADE IN WRITING.

3. BUYER REPRESENTATIONS:
NONE. PROPERTY IS BEING SOLD AS-IS AND WHERE IS SUBJECT TO ALL FAUL TS AND CONDITIONS.

4. BUYER OBLIGATIONS:
(a) Responsibility for Certain Costs: Buyer shall be responsible for all costs with respect to:
(i) any loan obtained by Buyer, including charges by an owners association and/or management company as agent of an
owners' association for providing information required by Buyer's lender;
(ii) charges required by an owners' association declaration to be paid by Buyer for Buyer's future use and enjoyment of the
Property, including, without limitation, working capital contributions, membership fees, or charges for Buyer's use of the
common elements and/or services provided to Buyer, such as "move-in fees";
(iii) determining restrictive covenant compliance;
(iv) appraisal;
(v) title search;
(vi) title insurance;
(vii) any fees charged by the closing attorney for the preparation of the Closing Disclosure, Seller Disclosure and any other
settlement statement;
(viii) recording the deed; and
(ix) preparation and recording of all instruments required to secure the balance of the Purchase Price unpaid at Settlement.
5, SELLER REPRESENTATIONS:
(a) Ownership: Seller represents that Seller:
XX has owned the Property for at least one year.
□ has owned the Property for less than one year.
□ does not yet own the Property.
(b) Seller has not listed the property for sale with any broker, realtor or third party who may be entitled to claim a commission or
other fee arising out of this sale.
6 . SELLER OBLIGATIONS:

(a) Evidence of Title, Payoff Statement(s) and Non Foreign Status:
(i) Seller agrees to use best efforts to provide to the closing attorney as soon as reasonably possible after the Effective Date,
copies of all title information in possession of or available to Seller, including but not limited to: title insurance policies,
attorney's opinions on title, surveys, covenants, deeds, notes and deeds of trust, leases, and easements relating to the
Property.
(ii) Seller shall provide to the closing attorney all information needed to obtain a written payoff statement from any lender(s)
regarding any security interest in the Property as soon as reasonably possible after the Effective Date, and Seller designates
the closing attorney as Seller's agent with express authority to request and obtain on Seller's behalf payoff statements and/or
short-pay statements from any such lender(s).
(iii) If Seller is not a foreign person as defined by the Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act, Seller shall also provide
to the closing attorney a non-foreign status affidavit (pursuant to the Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act). In the
event Seller shall not provide a non-foreign status affidavit, Seller acknowledges that there may be withholding as provided
by the Internal Revenue Code.
(b) Access to Property: Seller shall provide reasonable access to the Property through the earlier of Closing or possession by
Buyer, including, but not limited to, allowing the Buyer and/or Buyer's agents or representatives an opportunity to (i) conduct Due
Diligence, (ii) verify the satisfactory completion of negotiated repairs/improvements, and (iii) conduct a final walk-through
inspection of the Property.
(c) Affidavit And Indemnification Agreement: Seller shall furnish at Settlement an affidavit(s) and indemnification agreement(s)
in form satisfactory to Buyer and Buyer's title insurer, if any, executed by Seller and any person or entity who has performed or
furnished labor, services, materials or rental equipment to the Property within 120 days prior to the date of Settlement and who
may be entitled to claim a lien against the Property as described in N.C.G.S. §44A-8 verifying that each such person or entity has
been paid in full and agreeing to indemnify Buyer, Buyer's lender(s) and Buyer's title insurer against all loss from any cause or
claim arising therefrom.
(d) Good Title, Legal Access: Seller shall execute and deliver a SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED for the Property in recordable
form no later than Settlement, which shall convey fee simple marketable and insurable title, without exception for mechanics'
liens, and free of any other liens, encumbrances or defects, including those which would be revealed by a current and accurate
survey of the Property, except: ad valorem taxes for the current year (prorated through the date of Settlement); utility easements
and unviolated covenants. conditions or restrictions that do not materially affect the value of the Property; and such other liens,
encumbrances or defects as may be assumed or specifically approved by Buyer in writing. The Property must have legal access to
a public right of way.

(e) SELLER-PAID CLOSING COSTS: Seller shall pay the customary and normal closing costs for the benefit of the Seller,
including preparation of a deed and all other documents necessary to perform Seller's obligations under this Contract, and for state
and county excise taxes (revenue stamp in the amount of $30.00).
7. PR ORA TIO NS AND ADJUSTMENTS: Unless otherwise provided, the following items shall be prorated, with Seller
responsible for the prorated amounts through the date of Settlement and either adjusted between the pa1iies or paid at Settlement:
(a) Taxes on Real Property: Ad valorem taxes and recurring governmental service fees levied with such taxes on real property
shall be prorated on a calendar year basis;
(b) Rents: Rents, if any, for the Property;
(c) Dues: Owners' association regular assessments (dues) and other like charges.
8. RISK OF LOSS/CONDITION OF PROPERTY AT CLOSING: The risk of loss or damage by fire or other casualty prior to
Closing shall be upon Seller. Seller is advised not to cancel existing insurance on the Property until after confirming recordation of the
deed. Buyer's obligation to complete the transaction contemplated by this Contract shall be contingent upon the Property being in
substantially the same or better condition at Closing as on the date of this offer, reasonable wear and tear excepted. If the Property is
not in substantially the same or better condition at Closing as on the date of this offer, reasonable wear and tear excepted, Buyer may
terminate this Contract by written notice delivered to Seller. If the Property is not in such condition and Buyer does NOT elect to
terminate this Contract, Buyer shall be entitled to receive, in addition to the Property, the proceeds of any insurance claim filed by
Seller on account of any damage or destruction to the Prope1iy.
9. DELAY IN SETTLEMENT/CLOSING: Absent agreement to the contrary in this Contract or any subsequent modification
thereto, if a party is unable to complete Settlement by the Settlement Date but intends to complete the transaction and is acting in good
faith and with reasonable diligence to proceed to Settlement ("Delaying Party"), and if the other party is ready, willing and able to
complete Settlement on the Settlement Date ("Non-Delaying Party") then the Delaying Party shall give as much notice as possible to
the Non-Delaying Party and closing attorney and shall be entitled to a delay in Settlement. If the pa1iies fail to complete Settlement
and Closing within fourteen ( 14) days of the Settlement Date (including any amended Settlement Date agreed to in writing by the
pa1iies) or to otherwise extend the Settlement Date by written agreement, then the Delaying Party shall be in breach and the NonDelaying Party may terminate this Contract and shall be entitled to enforce any remedies available to such party under this Contract
for the breach.
10. POSSESSION: Unless otherwise provided herein, possession shall be delivered at Closing as defined in Paragraph l(m). No
alterations, excavations, tree or vegetation removal or other such activities may be done before possession is delivered.

11. ASSIGNMENTS: This Contract may not be assigned without the written consent of all parties except in connection with a taxdeferred exchange, but if assigned by agreement, then this Contract shall be binding on the assignee and assignee's heirs and
successors.
12. PARTIES: This Contract shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of Buyer and Seller and its successors and assigns.
As used herein, words in the singular include the plural and the masculine includes the feminine and neuter genders, as appropriate.
13. SURVIVAL: If any provision herein contained which by its nature and effect is required to be observed, kept or performed after
the Closing, it shall survive the Closing and remain binding upon and for the benefit of the parties hereto until fully observed, kept or
performed.
14. ENTIRE AGREEMENT: This Contract contains the entire agreement of the parties and there are no representations,
inducements or other provisions other than those expressed herein. All changes, additions or deletions hereto must be in writing and
signed by all parties.
15. CONDUCT OF TRANSACTION: The parties agree that any action between them relating to the transaction contemplated by
this Contract may be conducted by electronic means, including the signing of this Contract by one or more of them and any notice or
communication given in connection with this Contract. Any written notice or communication may be transmitted to any mailing
address, e-mail address or fax number set fo1ih in the "Notice Information" section below. Any notice or communication to be given
to a party herein, any fee, deposit of other payment to be delivered to a party herein, may be given to the party or to such party's agent.
Seller and Buyer agree that the "Notice Information" and "Acknowledgment of Receipt of Monies" sections below shall not constitute
a material part of this Contract, and that the addition or modification of any information therein shall not constitute a rejection of an
offer or the creation of a counteroffer.
16. EXECUTION: This Contract may be signed in multiple originals or counterparts, all of which together constitute one and the
same instrument.

17. COMPUTATION OF DA VS/TIME OF DAY: Unless otherwise provided, for purposes of this Contract, the term "days" shall
mean consecutive calendar days, including Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays, whether federal, state, local or religious. For the
purposes of calculating days, the count of "days" shall begin on the day following the day upon which any act or notice as provided in
this Contract was required to be performed or made. Any reference to a date or time of day shall refer to the date and/or time of day
in the State of North Carolina.

This offer shall become a binding contract on the Effective Date. Unless specifically provided otherwise, Buyer's failure to timely
deliver any fee, deposit or other payment provided for herein shall not prevent this offer from becoming a binding contract, provided
that any such failure shall give Seller certain rights to terminate the contract as described herein or as otherwise permitted by law.
Entity Buyer: CITY OF MOUNT AIRY

Entity Seller: RESOURCE INSTITUTE INC.

By: _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ __

By:-----------------

Name: _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ __
Print Name
Title:

Name: _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ __
Print Name
Title: _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ __

Date: _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ __

Date: _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ __

--------------------

This contract has been pre-audited in the manner required by the
Local Government Fiscal Control Act.

Pam Stone Finance Director for City of Mount Airy

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2020-013
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY OF MOUNT AIRY CODE OF ORDINANCES
WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of the City of Mount Airy desires to amend
certain sections of the City of Mount Airy Code of Ordinances:
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED that the following sections of the City of
Mount Airy Code of Ordinances be amended as follows:

CHAPTER 10 - OFFENSES AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS:
Section 10-6: Repealed

CHAPTER 15 - TRAFFIC
Article 1. In General:
Section 15-1: Definitions.
The following terms, when used in this chapter, shall, for the purpose of this chapter,
have the meanings respectively ascribed to them in this section, except in those instances
where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:

Authorized emergency vehicles. Vehicles of the Fire Depart1nent, police vehicles and
such ambulances designated or authorized by the Chief of Police.
Bicycles. A vehicle with two tandem wheels, neither of which is less than 20 inches in
diameter, with solid or pneumatic tires and propelled by human power.
Bicycle operation. In any form or tense thereof, shall refer to using, putting into
motion, or causing the functioning of a bicycle by a person mounted thereon.
Block. The length of that portion of any street which is located between two street
intersections.
Business distrfrl. The territory contiguous to a street when 75 percent or more of
frontage thereon, for a distance of 300 feet or more, is occupied by buildings which are in
use for business purposes.
Crosswalk. That portion of a roadway which lies between the prolongation of the
lateral side-walk or boundary lines over an intersection and any portion of a roachvay
distinctly indicated for pedestrian crossing by lines or other rnai·kings on the surface.
Curb. The lateral boundaries of that portion of a street designed for the use of vehicles,
-whether marked by curbstone or not so marked.
Driver. Every person who drives or is in actual physical control of a vehicle.
Demonstration. Any assembly in a public place for the purpose of displaying sentiment
for or against a person or cause, inclmling protesting.

Group demonstration. Any demonstration, as defined herein, involving ten (10) or
more people. Group demonstrations rec1uire a permit pursuant to Section 15-24 of this article
except where exempt from permitting requirements.

Inspection. The area embraced within the prolongation of the lateral curb or boundary
lines of two or more roadways or highways which join or -which join and cross one another
at an angle.
~Motor vehicle. A vehicle which is self-propelled but not operated upon rails.
Official time standard. Whenever certain hours are named herein they shall mean
standard time or daylight saving time as may be in current use in this City.
Official traffic-control devices. All signs, signals, markings and devices not inconsistent
with this chapter which are placed or erected by authority of the Board of Commissioners
or an official having jurisdiction for the purpose of regulating, warning or guiding traffic.
Official traffic signal. Any device, whether manua1ly or automatically operated, by
which traffic is alternately directed to stop and to proceed.
Park. The standing of' a vehicle, whether occupied or not, other than temporarily for
the purpose of loading or unloading.
Pedestrian. Any person afoot.
Person. Any person, firm, corporation, pa1·tne1·ship, association or other organization,
whethe1· formal 01· informal.

Police officer. Every officer of the City Police Department or any officer authorized to
direct traffic or to make arrests for violations.
Private road or driveway. Every road or driveway not open to the use of the public for
purposes of vehicular travel.
Public conveyance. Any vehicle which 1s engaged
persons for fare.
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the business of transporting

Railroad. A carrier of persons or property, with cars operated on stationary rails.
Railroad train. A steam engine, electric or other locomotor, with or without cars
coupled theTeto, operated upon rails.
Sidewalk. That portion of a street between the curb lines, or the laternl lines of a
road-way, and the adjacent property lines exclusively intended for the use of pedestrians.
Standing. Any stopping of a vehicle, whether occupied

OT

not.

Stop. When required, means complete cessation of movement.

Stop or stopp£ng. When prohibited, means any stopping of a vehicle, except when
conflict -with other traffic is imminent, or when otherwise directed by a police officer.
Strnet or highway. The entire area between lateral property lines which 1s open to the
use of the public, as a matter of right, for purposes of vehicular traffic.

Traffic. Pedestrians, ridden or herded animals, vehicles, and other conveyances, either
singly or together, while using any street for purposes of travel.

Traffic signs. Authorized signs or markers which are assumed to be pennauently or
temporarily placed or erected or installed at certain places and which purport to give notice
of direction or to convey a prohibition or warning. The presence of such signs, though nol
compulsory, is generally dictated by necessity or common sense, with a view lo furtherance
of public safety.

Vehicle. Any device in or upon -which any person or property may be trnnsported. For
the purpose of this chapter, a bicycle or ridden animal shall also be deemed a vehicle.

Section 15-21: Parades.
It shall he the duty of the city manager, chief of police, or designee to control the
authorization and regulation of all parades, marches, demonstrations and or similar
functions, which shall pass or attempt to pass through the public streets or sidewalks of the
City. No such parade, mLuch, demonstration or similar function shall be conducted on any
public street or side-·walk within the City limits without the sponsor, sponsoring
organization, or person in charge having first applied for and having received from the city
manager, chief of police, or designee a written parade permit, setting forth the time, place,
purpose, number of units and their description, and the name of the sponsor, sponsoring
organization, or person in charge. Such requests shall he made to the city manager, chief of
police, or designee no later than ten days before such event is to be held. It shall he within
the exclusive jurisdiction of the city manager, chief of police, or designee to grant or deny
such applications; provided however, that the sponsor, sponsoring organization, or person
in charge shall have the right to appeal the denial of any such request to the Board of
Commissioners for such discussion and recommendation as may he necessary; the ruling of
the Board in such appeals shall be final. The failure or neglect of any such sponsor,
sponsoring organization, or person in charge to obtain such a permit shall be punishable as
a misdemeanor, as provided in section 1-6, such fine or imprisonment to he applicable to
each person or group of persons violating the provisions of this section.

Section 15-23: Required.
It shall he unlawful for any person to organize, conduct 01· pmticipate in any group
demonstration in 01· upon any public place within the city unless a permit therefor has been
issued hy the city manager, chief of police, 01· designee in accordance with the provisions of
this (livision. This pennit requirement shall not apply for group demonstrations that are
unplanned and ai·e not expected to last more than twelve (12) hom·s, or for demonstrations
involving less than ten (10) people. An unplanne(l group demonstration or a demonstration
involving less than ten (10) people may apply for a permit but is not required to do so.

Section 15-24: Issuance of Permit.
The city manager, chief of police, or desiguee is autho1·ized to issue pennits as 1'e<Juired
in this division, and in the issuance thei·eof, the manager shall:

(1) Require a written application for the permit to he filed not less than fOl'ty-eight ( 48)
hom·s in advance of such group (lemonstration. Such application shall he on a fOl'm
prescribed hy the city manager, chief of police, or desiguee, shall he signe(l hy the applicant,
and shall require that the applicant show the proposed time, place, and expected size of such
group demonstration. If the group (lemonstration is proposed to be cornlucted for, on behalf
of, or hy an Ol'gauizatiou, the city manager, chief of police or designee shall re<Juire that the
applicant prnvide the name, address, and telephone number of the organization arnl of the
authorized and 1·esponsible heads of such Ol'ganization. The city manager, chief of police, or
designee, where good cause is shown therefOl', shall have the authority to consi(ler any
application under this section which is filed less than forty-eight ( 48) hours before the time
such group demonsh·ation is 1noposed to he conducted.
(2) Require that the application for a permit specify and the permit designate one (1) or
more person( s) in charge of the activity. At least one (1) of such person( s) shall accompany
the group demonstration and shall carry such permit with them at that time. Such pennit
shall not be valid in the possession of any other persou(s).
(3) Have the authority to place reasonable conditions on the permit related to the time,
place, or manner of the group demoush·atiou where such conditions are (lirectly related to
and are re(Juired in order to ensm·e the public health, safety, and welfare.
( 4) Issue such permit unless denying the permit is allowed in accordance with section 15-

26.
Section 15-25: Grounds fOl' Rejecting or Revoking a Permit.
The city manage1·, chief of police, or designee may 1·efuse to issue or may revoke any
permit granted for a group demonstration for any of the following reasons, and none other,
which decision shall he in writing and shall state the reasou(s) fOl' rejecting the permit
application or 1·evoking the pennit:

(1) The violation hy any pa1·ticipant of this Article.
(2) The failure to comply with the terms and conditions of the permit.
(3) Giving false information on the permit application.
( 4) An application for a group (lemonstration has ah·eady heen receive(} for the same time
and place re(1ucsted, in which case au alternative time or place shall be offered.

(5) It reasonably appears that the group demonstration, due to its stated time, location, or
size, will present a threat to the public safety, health, 01· welfare, in which case alternatives
shall he offered.
(6) It reasonably appears that the activity
violation of local, state, or fede1·al law.

01'

purpose stated in the application would he a

(7) Thei·e is no person in charge identified on the application or there is otherwise no
person willing to accept 1·esponsihility for complying with the provisions of this article or of
any permit issued by the city manage1·, chief of police, or designee.

Section 15-26: Appeal of a Decision to Reject or Revoke a Permit.
The decision of the city manager's designee to reject 01· revoke a permit may he appealed
hy providing written notice to the city manager, chief of police, or designee within seven (7)
days of the issuance of the decision to reject a permit application or 1·evoke a permit. The city
manager shall decide the appeal and shall issue a decision, in w1·iting, within ten (10) days of
receipt of the appeal. The city manager's decision shall he timely if it is post-marked or handdelivered within ten (10) days.
The decision of the city manager, including the initial decision to reject 01· revoke a
permit where the city manager makes that determination, may he appealed to the city
council by providing written notice to the city manager within seven (7) days of the date the
decision was hand-delivere(l, or within ten (10) days of the date the decision was postmarked. The city manager shall place any appeal on a council agenda within thirty (30) days
of receipt. The city council shall issue a (lecision in writing within ten (10) days of
considering the appeal. The (lecision of the city council shall be final. The timelines herein
may be amended by agreement of the city and the applicant.

Section 15-27: Exceptions to Article.
The provisions of this article shall not apply to:
(1) Funeral pl'Ocessions.
(2) Students going to or from school classes or participating in educational or recreational
activity where such activity is under the supervision and direction of proper school
authorities.
(3) Any governmental agency acting within the scope of its functions.

Section 15-28: Prohibition of Fireai·ms and Dange1·ous Weapons.
It shall be unlawful for any pe1·son to possess any firearm 01· dangerous weapon of any
kind, as defined below, whether exposed 01· concealed, as a part of any group demonstration
or other demonstration conducted pm·suant to this article (whether permitted or not), or of
any public street festivals or special events conducted pursuant to a permit issued under

a1·ticles II, VII, and VIII of chapter 9, or of any other event conducted pursuant to a permit
duly issued by the city manager or designee.
The term dangerous weapon shall be define(l as any device or substance designed or
capable of being used to inflict serious injury to any person or prope1·ty, including, hut not
limited to, any firearm, airgun, BB gun, pellet gun, knife or razOl' with a blade longer than
three (3) inches in length, metallic knuckles, blackjacks, nightsticks, dangerous chemical
which by its use might constitute a dangerous or deadly weapon, open flames lm'ger than a
standard candle, or other incendiary devices of any type.
This section shall not apply to a person exempted by the provisions of G.S. § 14-269(b)
or to persons authorized by state or federal law to carry dangerous weapons in the
performance of their official duties.

Section 15-29: Interference Prohibited.
No person shall hamper, obstn1ct, impe(le, or interfere with any group demonstration or
other demonstration conducted pm·suant to this article, with any public street festivals or
special events conducted pursuant to a permit issued umler Articles II, VII, and VIII of
Chapter 9, or with any other event being conducted umler authority of a permit duly issued
hy the city manager, chief of police, or designee.
Demonstrations and group demonstrations shall he conducted on portions of public
property not used primarily for vehicular pai·king or moving traffic, unless a permit has been
issued permitting a demonstration in that area, and shall not disrupt, block, obstruct 01'
interfere with pedestrian or vehicular traffic or the free passage of pedestrian or vehiculai·
ti·affic into any driveway, pedestrian entrance, or other access to buildings, which abut the
public streets or sidewalks.

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED that this ordinance shall become effective upon
approval.
Apprnved and adopted this the 7th day of November, 2019.

David L. Rowe, Mayor
ATTEST:

Melissa N. Brame, City Clerk

